
COUNCIL MEETING MINUTES 
JANUARY 25, 2021 

Page 1 - Council Meeting Minutes, January 25, 2021 

DATE COUNCIL CHAMBERS, CITY HALL, CITY OF WOODBURN, COUNTY OF 
MARION, STATE OF OREGON, JANUARY 25, 2021 

CONVENED   The meeting convened at 7:04 p.m. with Mayor Swenson presiding. 

ROLL CALL 
Mayor Swenson Present -via video conferencing 
Councilor Carney Present -via video conferencing 
Councilor Cornwell Present -via video conferencing 
Councilor Schaub Present -via video conferencing 
Councilor Swanson Present- via video conferencing 7:07 p.m. 
Councilor Puente Present -via video conferencing 
Councilor Cabrales Present -via video conferencing 

Staff Present (via video conferencing): City Administrator Derickson, City Attorney Shields, 
Assistant City Administrator Row, Economic Development Director Johnk, Police Chief Ferraris, 
Deputy Police Chief Pilcher, Community Development Director Kerr, Public Works Project and 
Engineering Director Liljequist, Finance Director Turley, Assistant City Attorney Granum, 
Human Resources Director Gregg, Parks and Recreation Manager Cuomo, City Recorder Pierson 

PRESENTATIONS 
COVID-19 Vaccine Status - Parks and Recreation Manager Cuomo provided an update on 
COVID-19 in Woodburn. 

Parr Road Municipal Water Supply Well Project - Public Works Project and Engineering 
Director Liljequist and Assistant City Administrator Row provided information on the Parr Road 
Municipal well project.  

CONSENT AGENDA 
A. Woodburn City Council minutes of January 11, 2021,
B. Acceptance of a Statutory Warranty Deed for Right-of-Way Dedication and a Public Utility

Easement at 1414 Commerce Way, Woodburn, OR 97071 (Tax Lot 051W08CB05000),
C. Crime Statistics through December 2020.
Carney/Cabrales.… adopt the Consent Agenda. The motion passed unanimously. 

PUBLIC HEARINGS 
A Public Hearing to consider input on an annexation of approximately 8.62 acres of territory 
known as the Ivanov Property at 2145 Molalla Rd NE (ANX 2019-01) and approval of related 
land use applications for development into the Woodburn Eastside Apartments. Mayor Swenson 
declared the hearing open at 7:49 p.m. for the purpose of hearing public input on an annexation of 
approximately 8.62 acres of territory known as the Ivanov Property at 2145 Molalla Rd NE (ANX 
2019-01) and approval of related land use applications for development into the Woodburn 
Eastside Apartments. Mayor Swenson asked if there were any declarations from the Council. 
Councilor Carney stated that he is familiar with this location. City Recorder Pierson Read the 
public hearing statement. Senior Planner Cortes provided a staff report. Mark Grenz provided 
testimony on the application. No members of the public wished to speak in either support or 
opposition of the annexation of approximately 8.62 acres of territory known as the Ivanov Property 
at 2145 Molalla Rd NE (ANX 2019-01) and approval of related land use applications for 

1



COUNCIL MEETING MINUTES 
JANUARY 25, 2021 

Page 2 - Council Meeting Minutes, January 25, 2021 

development into the Woodburn Eastside Apartments. City Councilors asked questions and 
provided comments on the application and stated their concerns over the traffic impacts of this 
application. Carney/Swanson … this hearing be extended to the first meeting in March or 
thereabouts based upon the conditions that the developer encounters with ODOT and his 
communication with our community development department. On roll call vote the motion passed 
5-1 with Councilor Schaub voting no.  
 
FY 2021/22 FINANCIAL PLAN 
City Administrator Derickson provided a staff report. Carney/Schaub… approve the 2021/22 
Financial Plan as described in the information just presented by the City Administrator.  The 
motion passed unanimously. 
 
OTHER BUSINESS 
City Administrator Derickson provided a follow up on the discussion on goals that the City Council 
had at their last meeting. These goals included COVID-19 recovery, Public Safety and Social 
Service Program Development, DEI training, Sidewalk and Tree Planting Program and continuing 
with work sessions.  
 
CITY ADMINISTRATOR’S REPORT 
The City Administrator reported the following: 

• The $100 gift cards have gone out and are being distributed through the AWARE food 
bank.   

• Summer events are being looked at and we are brainstorming some alternative events for 
this year.  

• Translation Service went okay but we are still looking to refine it. 
• The City has won the GFOA award for the financial documents submitted.  
• Providing new Councilors with training and thanked them for attending.  

 
MAYOR AND COUNCIL REPORTS 
Councilor Puente stated that he is thankful for the community and everyone working together to 
move Woodburn forward.   
 
Councilor Schaub thanked Councilor Puente for his suggestion of each Ward meeting with their 
constituents.  
 
Mayor Swenson stated that he is working with Tommy on the State of the City address.  
 
ADJOURNMENT 
Carney/Schaub… meeting be adjourned.  The motion passed unanimously.   
The meeting adjourned at 10:16 p.m. 
 
 

 
APPROVED                                                            

                            ERIC SWENSON, MAYOR 
 
 
 
 
ATTEST                                                                               
                 Heather Pierson, City Recorder 

2



COUNCIL MEETING MINUTES 
JANUARY 25, 2021 

Page 3 - Council Meeting Minutes, January 25, 2021 

                 City of Woodburn, Oregon 

3



Agenda Item 
 

 

Agenda Item Review: City Administrator ___x___ City Attorney ___x___ Finance __x___ 

 February 8, 2021 
 
 
TO: Honorable Mayor and City Council through City Administrator 
 
THRU: James C. Ferraris, Chief of Police 
   
FROM: Andy Shadrin, Lieutenant 
 
SUBJECT: 2021 OLCC Renewal  
 
 
RECOMMENDATION: 
 
Recommend to the OLCC to renew the liquor licenses for the listed businesses 
for the year of 2021. 
 
BACKGROUND: 
 
Annually the police department reviews activities occurring at or near all 
licensed liquor establishments in Woodburn. Through the established guidelines 
and procedures, the City Council ensures equitable and consistent treatment of 
liquor license applications. 
 
The following liquor license applications were reviewed in accordance with 
Woodburn Police Department standards and are recommended for approval: 
 

Off Premise Sales: 
 

7-Eleven      New Am/Pm of Woodburn   
A & J Market        Red Robin 
Bi-Mart #643     Safeway Store #1976 
Carniceria El Ranchito    Sunrise Food Mart & Deli 
C & M Market     Tienda Mexicano Monte Alban 
Crossroads Grocery & Deli   Valley Pacific Floral/Woodburn Florist 
Del Sol Market     Walgreens #12095  
Denny’s Woodburn    Walmart Supercenter #1793 
EZ Stop Grocery     Wheeler Dealer 
Guacamole's Market    Woodburn Fast Serv 
La Azteca      Woodburn Liquor Store 

4



Honorable Mayor and City Council 
February 8, 2021 
Page 2 
 
 
La Tovara      Woodburn Market 
Mariscos El Sarandeado    Woodburn Mega Foods 
Metropolis Growlers    Woodburn Stop n Go 
     

Full On Premise Sales: 
 

7 Seas Restaurant & Bar    Red Robin  
Casa Marquez Mexican Grill   Mariscos El Sarandeado 
Chipotle Mexican Grill    OGA Members Course 
Denny's Woodburn    Rumors Bar and Grill  
Eagles Lodge #3284 Woodburn  The End Zone Sports Bar & Grill 
Elmer's Breakfast Lunch Dinner   The Raven Bar & Grill 
La Parranda Night Club    Trapala Brewpub & Rotisseria 
La Tovara      Trapala Restaurant  
Los Cabos Mexican Restaurant   Woodburn Bowl   

 
 

Limited on Premise Sales 
 
Abby's Legendary Pizza      Metropolis Growlers 
Antojitos Zaragoza     Pepper’s Deli & Pub 
Dede's Deli        Shari's of Woodburn    
El Tule Taqueria     Sushi Brothers 
Gina’s Restaurant     Woodburn Estates & Golf 
Pizza Hut      Woodburn Mega Foods 
         
    
 
DISCUSSION: 
 
The Woodburn Police Department has completed a review, in connection with 
the OLCC, on the listed businesses above and found nothing that would 
disqualify or preclude the renewal of the various licenses for the businesses listed 
on this document.  
 

5



Honorable Mayor and City Council 
February 8, 2021 
Page 3 
 
 

Licensees of Concern 
 
The End Zone Sports Bar & Grill     La Parranda Night Club  
     
DISCUSSION: 
 
During the 2020 calendar year, the Woodburn Police Department has 
responded to The End Zone Sports Bar & Grill on one assault call and has 
conducted three Driving Under the Influence arrests where the arrested subject 
indicated that they had been drinking at The End Zone Bar & Grill prior to being 
arrested for DUII. 
 
During the 2020 calendar year, the Woodburn Police responded to La Parranda 
Night Club on three calls where fights had occurred in the parking lot by the 
patrons of the business. 
 
FINANCIAL IMPACT: 
 
None   

6



7



8



9



10



11



12



Agenda Item 
 

 

Agenda Item Review: City Administrator ___x___ City Attorney __x____ Finance __x___ 

 February 8, 2021 
 
 
TO: Honorable Mayor and City Council through City Administrator 
 
THRU: James C. Ferraris, Chief of Police 
   
FROM: Andy Shadrin, Lieutenant 
 
SUBJECT: Liquor License Application  
 
 
RECOMMENDATION: 
 
Recommend that the OLCC approve the Liquor License Application for 
Tequila’s Bistro Bar, LLC. 
 
BACKGROUND: 
 
Applicant: Elizabeth Sonia Garcia 
  355 Harvard Drive 
  Woodburn, OR 97071 
  503-989-6719 
   
Point of  
Contact:  Elizabeth S. Garcia 
  355 Harvard Drive 
  Woodburn, OR 97071 
  503-989-6719 
   
   
Business: Tequila’s Bistro Bar 
  347 North Front Street, # 3 
  Woodburn, OR 97071 
  503-989-6719 
 
Owner(s): Elizabeth Sonia Garcia 
 

13



Honorable Mayor and City Council 
February 8, 2021 
Page 2 
 
 
License Type(s):   
Full On-Premises, Commercial -  May sell and serve distilled spirits, beer, wine 
and cider for consumption on the licensed premises.  May sell beer, wine, and 
cider in a secure container, “growler”, for consumption off licensed premises  
 
On January 4, 2021, the Woodburn Police Department received an application 
for Full On-Premises, Commercial sales liquor license for Tequila’s Bistro Bar.  The 
business will operate as a restaurant and bar.  The business will be located at 347 
North Front Street, # 3, in Woodburn, Oregon 97071.  The location of the business 
will be located in the shared indoor business space of The Metropolis 
Marketplace.  The hours of operation are from 7 AM to 12 AM on Sunday 
through Thursday and 7 AM to 1 AM on Friday and Saturday.  The establishment 
will have live music, recorded music, DJ music and dancing as forms of 
entertainment.  Live and/or DJ music will occur on Friday and Saturday between 
5 PM and 12 AM. 
 
The business will have seating for up to 50 persons for its restaurant.  The business 
will have no outside seating but does indicate seating for an additional 300 
persons in a banquet room.  The Woodburn Police Department has not received 
any communication from the public or surrounding businesses in support of or 
against the proposed change. 
   
 
DISCUSSION: 
 
The Police Department has completed a background investigation on the 
subject listed on the OLCC application, Elizabeth Sonia Garcia.  Elizabeth Sonia 
Garcia has a valid Oregon driver’s license.  Elizabeth Sonia Garcia has one 
arrest in 2008 for Theft III.  The theft charge was dismissed and there were no 
other criminal entries or convictions found in her record.  Elizabeth Sonia Garcia 
was clear in all other police database checks. 
 
Elizabeth Sonia Garcia has previously held two other liquor licenses for the El 
Agave Restaurant in 2012 and 2013.  While Elizabeth Sonia Garcia maintained 
her liquor licenses at the El Agave Restaurant there were no incidents of note 
involving liquor license violations or police calls.  
 
FINANCIAL IMPACT: 
 
None 

14



15



16



17



18



19



20



21



22



23



24



25



Agenda Item 
 

 

Agenda Item Review: City Administrator __x____ City Attorney ___x___ Finance _x____ 

              February 8, 2021 
 
TO: Honorable Mayor and City Council  
 
FROM: McKenzie Granum, Assistant City Attorney  
 
SUBJECT: Resolution Consenting to “Change in Control” Transaction Involving 

Cable Television Franchisee Wave 
 
 
RECOMMENDATION: 
 
Adopt the Resolution Approving the Change in Indirect Control of the Wave 
Franchisee under the Cable Television Franchise.   
 
 
BACKGROUND: 
 
WaveDivision VII, LLC, doing business as Wave (previously “Wave Broadband” 
and "Willamette Broadband"), currently holds a cable television franchise 
granted by the City (Ord. 2500). Section 3.5 of the Franchise Agreement requires 
that Wave request the City’s consent to any proposed “change in control” of 
the franchisee, which under the agreement "shall not be unreasonably withheld 
by the City."  
 
Federal law also requires that the franchisee file FCC Form 394 with the City 
upon a “change in control” transaction. The City Council must then act within 
120 days of the filing of this form or the “change in control” becomes 
automatically approved. 
 
Currently, Wave’s parent company is Radiate Holdco, LLC, a Delaware limited 
liability company controlled by Radiate Holdings, L.P.. Pursuant to an Agreement 
and Plan of Merger, funds associated with Stonepeak Infrastructure Partners, 
LLC, will purchase 100% of the membership interests of Radiate Holdings, L.P., 
and as a result, the indirect control of Wave will change. The proposed closing 
date of the transaction is prior to June 30, 2021.  
 
DISCUSSION: 
 
Several hundred pages of documents were filed with FCC Form 394. These 
documents include: a copy of the agreement and plan of merger, and 

26



Honorable Mayor and City Council 
February 8, 2021 
Page 2 
 
 
financial, legal, and technical information about Stonepeak, as well as all other 
required information. The City Attorney’s office reviewed the documents and 
found them to be in order. These documents are available for councilor 
inspection at the City Recorders Office upon request. 
 
It should be noted that this proposed transaction will not change the operations 
of WaveDivision VII, LLC, nor will it change Wave's obligations to comply with its 
franchise agreement. The Franchisee will continue to be held by the same legal 
entity and it will continue to provide services pursuant to its current agreement 
and as the same company that manages the system today. 
 
Since there is no reasonable basis to deny the change in control request, staff 
recommends adoption of the resolution consenting to the change of control. 
 
FINANCIAL IMPACT: 
 
None. 
 
 
Attachments 
• November 30, 2020 - Letter from Kelley Drye & Warren LLP, providing the 

Notice of Transfer of Control of a Parent Company of WaveDivision VII, LLC 
• FCC Form 394 (without supporting documents, exhibits available to review 

upon request) 
• Pre- and Post-Transaction Organizational Charts 
 

27



Michael R. Dover 

Kelley Drye & Warren LLP 
333 West Wacker Drive 
Suite 2600 
Chicago, IL 60606 

Tel: 312-857-7087 
Fax: 312-857-7095 
 

 
 

November 30, 2020 
 
By FedEx 

City of Woodburn 
Office of the City Administrator 
270 Montgomery Street 
Woodburn, OR  97071 
 
Re:  Notice of Transfer of Control of a Parent Company of WaveDivision VII, LLC 
 
To Office of the City Administrator: 

As you may have heard, equity ownership in a parent company of WaveDivision VII, LLC will be 
transferred to a different private equity firm from the one that now controls it.  This transaction will not 
change the operations of WaveDivision VII, LLC, nor will it change WaveDivision VII, LLC’s obligations 
to comply with its franchise agreement.  It is, however, expected to make additional resources 
available to Woodburn with which it can enhance its network and improve its services in the City of 
Woodburn.  

Specifically, funds associated with Stonepeak Infrastructure Partners (“Stonepeak”), a private 
equity firm, entered into an agreement to acquire Radiate Holdings, L.P. (“Radiate”), a subsidiary of the 
TPG Capital group.  Radiate operates leading regional providers, including WaveDivision VII, LLC (“the 
Company”), originally issued to Willamette Broadband, LLC.  The Company currently holds a franchise to 
offer service in your community.  When the transaction under the agreement is consummated, the 
indirect control of your community’s franchisee will have changed.  Your community’s franchise will 
continue to be held by the same legal entity that holds your franchise today, it will continue to provide 
service pursuant to that franchise and the same company that manages the system today will continue 
to do so.  However, it will operate under the ultimate ownership and indirect control of Stonepeak.  

Again, as part of this transaction, Stonepeak has no current plans to change the local operations 
or structure of the operations or the services offered.  Upon completion, Stonepeak will combine its 
resources and expertise with WaveDivision VII, LLC’s knowledge of the local cable marketplace to build 
upon the successes of WaveDivision VII, LLC and further enhance the customer experience in your 
community.  Stonepeak and Patriot Media Consulting LLC will partner to investigate opportunities to 
invest in the network and in technology, enabling the Company to expand and grow its infrastructure, 
enhance its high-speed data services, and otherwise improve its offerings.   

28



City of Woodburn   
November 30, 2020 

KELLEY DRYE & WARREN LLP 2 

 
 

We have enclosed for you two (2) additional copies the FCC Form 394.  The Form 394 is designed 
to provide you with the information necessary to assess the financial, legal, and technical qualifications 
of Stonepeak with regard to the franchise.  This filing includes a copy of the agreement, and financial, 
legal, and technical information about Stonepeak, as well as all other required information.  Certain of 
this information, as designated therein, is confidential and not routinely made available to the public, 
and its dissemination would be harmful to Stonepeak’s business interests.  Pursuant to FCC Form 394, 
these materials must be maintained as confidential by you and any or all of your agents.  Also enclosed 
in the FCC Form 394 is a copy of the Public Interest Statement that was included in our filing with the 
FCC for approval of this transaction.  

Under the Communications Act, 47 U.S.C. § 537, you have 120 days upon completion to consider 
the application.  No action on your part is required; should you choose not to take any action within this 
120-day period, under federal law the application will be deemed granted.  In the event that you choose 
to act upon the application, we have enclosed for your convenience a draft resolution for your use.  
Please let us know if you place the matter on your agenda for consideration.  If you have any questions 
or inquiries regarding this matter, please contact David von Moritz, Corporate Counsel, at 425-896-1868 
or dvonmoritz@wavebroadband.com, or contact the undersigned.   

We look forward to continue working with you. 

Respectfully submitted, 
 
 
 
Michael R. Dover 
Kelley Drye & Warren LLP 
(773) 272-2382 
MDover@kelleydrye.com  
Counsel to Radiate Holdings, L.P. 
 
Michael Nilsson 
Harris, Wiltshire & Grannis LLP 
(202) 730-1301 
MNilsson@hwglaw.com 
Counsel to Stonepeak Infrastructure 
Partners 

Enclosures  

29

mailto:MDover@kelleydrye.com
mailto:MNilsson@hwglaw.com


Federal Communications Commission Approved By OMB 
Washington, DC 20554 3060-0573 

FCC 394 (Page 1) September 1996 

FCC 394 

APPLICATION FOR FRANCHISE AUTHORITY  
CONSENT TO ASSIGNMENT OR TRANSFER OF CONTROL  

OF CABLE TELEVISION FRANCHISE 

SECTION I.  GENERAL INFORMATION   
FOR FRANCHISE AUTHORITY USE ONLY

DATE   November 30, 2020 1.  Community Unit Identification Number:  OR0301 

2.  Application for: Assignment of Franchise Transfer of Control 

3.  Franchising Authority:            City of Woodburn 
4.  Identify community where the system/franchise that is the subject of the assignment or transfer of control is located: 

Woodburn

5.  Date system was acquired or (for system’s constructed by the transferor/assignor) the date on 
which service was provided to the first subscriber in the franchise area:  3/13/2013 
6.  Proposed effective date of closing of the transaction assigning or transferring ownership of the 
system to transferee/assignee: 

As soon as possible and ideally 
prior to June 30, 2021 

7.  Attach as an Exhibit a schedule of any and all additional information or material filed with this 
application that is identified in the franchise as required to be provided to the franchising 
authority when requesting its approval of the type of transaction that is the subject of this 
application. 

Exhibit No. 

N/A

PART I - TRANSFEROR/ASSIGNOR

1.  Indicate the name, mailing address, and telephone number of the transferor/assignor. 
Legal name of Transferor/Assignor (if individual, list last name first) 

Radiate Holdings, L.P. 

Assumed name used for doing business (if any) 

Mailing street address or P.O. Box 

650 College Road East, Suite 3100 

City    State ZIP Code Telephone No. (include area code)   

Princeton NJ 08540 (609) 452-8197 

2. (a) 
Attach as an Exhibit a copy of the contract or agreement that provides for the assignment or 
transfer of control (including any exhibits or schedules thereto necessary in order to understand the 
terms thereof).  If there is only an oral agreement, reduce the terms to writing and attach.  
(Confidential trade, business, pricing or marketing information, or other information not otherwise 
publicly available, may be redacted). 

Exhibit No. 

I.I.2 

(b) Does the contract submitted in response to (a) above embody the full and complete agreement 
between the transferor/assignor and the transferee/assignee? 

Yes No 

If No, explain in an Exhibit. Exhibit No. 

I.I.2 

30



FCC 394 (Page 2) September 1996 

PART II - TRANSFEREE/ASSIGNEE

1.(a) Indicate the name, mailing address, and telephone number of the transferee/assignee. 
Legal name of Transferee/Assignee (if individual, list last name first) 

Stonepeak Associates IV, LLC 

Assumed name used for doing business (if any) 

Mailing street address or P.O. Box 

c/o Stonepeak infrastructure Partners,  
55 Hudson Yards 
550 W 34th Street, 48th Floor 

City State ZIP Code Telephone No. (include area code) 

New York NY 10001 (212) 907-5125 

(b)  Indicate the name, mailing address, and telephone number of person to contact, if other than transferee/assignee. 
Name of contact person (list last name first) 

See Exhibit I.II.1(c)
Firm or company name (if any) 

Mailing street address or P.O. Box 

City State ZIP Code Telephone No. (include area code) 

(c)  Attach as an Exhibit the name, mailing address, and telephone number of each additional person 
who should be contacted, if any. 

Exhibit No. 

I.II.1(c) 

(d)  Indicate the address where the system’s records will be maintained. 
Street address 

650 College Road East, Suite 3100

City State ZIP Code Telephone No. (include area code) 

Princeton NJ 08540 (609) 452-8197

2. Indicate on an attached exhibit any plans to change the current terms and conditions of service and 
operations of the system as a consequence of the transaction for which approval is sought. 

Exhibit No. 

I.II.2 

31



FCC 394 (Page 3) September 1996 

SECTION II.  TRANSFEREE’S/ASSIGNEE’S LEGAL QUALIFICATIONS

1.  Transferee/Assignee is: 

Corporation 
a.  Jurisdiction of incorporation d.  Name and address of registered agent in 

jurisdiction: 
b.  Date of incorporation: 

c.  for profit or not for profit: 

Limited Partnership: 
a.  Jurisdiction in which formed: c.  name and address of registered agent in 

jurisdiction: 
b.  Date of formation: 

General Partnership 
a.  Jurisdiction whose laws govern 
formation: 

b.  Date of formation: 

Individual 

Other.  Describe in an Exhibit 
Exhibit No. 

II.I 

2. List the transferee/assignee, and, if the transferee/assignee is not a natural person, each of its officers, directors, stockholders 
beneficially holding more than 5% of the outstanding voting shares, general partners, and limited partners holding an equity interest 
of more than 5%.  Use only one COLUMN for each individual or entity.  Attach additional pages if necessary.  (Read carefully- the 
lettered items below refer to corresponding lines in the following table.) 

(a)  Name, residence, occupation or principal business, and principal place of business.  (If other than an individual, also show 
name, address and citizenship of natural person authorized to vote the voting securities of the applicant that it holds.) List the 
applicant first, officers, next, then directors and, thereafter, remaining stockholders and/or partners.
(b)  Citizenship. 
(c)  Relationship to the transferee/assignee (e.g., officer, director, etc.). 
(d)  Number of shares or nature of partnership interest. 
(e)  Number of votes. 
(f)  Percentage of votes. 

(a)  

                  Please see Exhibit II.2

(b) 

(c) 

(d) 

(e) 

(f) 

32



FCC 394 (Page 4) September 1996 

3. If the applicant is a corporation or a limited partnership, is the transferee/assignee formed under the 
laws of, or duly qualified to transact business in, the State or other jurisdiction in which the system 
operates?  

If the answer is No, explain in an Exhibit. 

Yes No

Exhibit No. 
II.3

4. Has the transferee/assignee had any interest in or in connection with an applicant which has been 
dismissed or denied by any franchise authority?  

If the answer is Yes, describe circumstances in an Exhibit. 

Yes No

Exhibit No. 

5. Has an adverse finding been made or an adverse final action been taken by any court or 
administrative body with respect to the transferee/assignee in a civil, criminal or administrative 
proceeding, brought under the provisions of any law or regulation related to the following: any felony; 
revocation, suspension or involuntary transfer of any authorization (including cable franchises) to 
provide video programming services; mass media related antitrust or unfair competition; fraudulent 
statements to another government unit; or employment discrimination? 

If the answer is Yes, attach as an Exhibit a full description of the persons and matter(s) involved, 
including an identification of any court or administrative body and any proceeding (by dates and file 
numbers, if applicable), and the disposition of such proceeding. 

Yes No

Exhibit No. 

6. Are there any documents, instruments, contracts or understandings relating to ownership or future 
ownership rights with respect to any attributable interest as described in Question 2 (including, but 
not limited to, non-voting stock interests, beneficial stock ownership interests, options, warrants, 
debentures)?  

If Yes, provide particulars in an Exhibit. 

Yes No

7. Do documents, instruments, agreements or understandings for the pledge of stock of the 
transferee/assignee, as security for loans or contractual performance, provide that: (a) voting rights 
will remain with the applicant, even in the event of default on the obligation; (b) in the event of 
default, there will be either a private or public sale of the stock; and (c) prior to the exercise of any 
ownership rights by a purchaser at a sale described in (b ), any prior consent of the FCC and/or of 
the franchising authority, if required pursuant to federal, state or local law or pursuant to the terms of 
the franchise agreement will be obtained?  

If No, attach as an Exhibit a full explanation. 

Yes No

Exhibit No. 

II.7 

SECTION III.  TRANSFEREE’S/ASSIGNEE’S FINANCIAL QUALIFICATIONS

1. The transferee/assignee certifies that it has sufficient net liquid assets on hand or available from 
committed resources to consummate the transaction and operate the facilities for three months. Yes No

2. Attach as an Exhibit the most recent financial statements, prepared in accordance with generally 
accepted accounting principles, including a balance sheet and income statement for at least one full 
year, for the transferee/assignee or parent entity that has been prepared in the ordinary course of 
business, if any such financial statements are routinely prepared.  Such statements, if not otherwise 
publicly available, may be marked CONFIDENTIAL and will be maintained as confidential by the 
franchise authority and its agents to the extent permissible under local law. 

Exhibit No. 

III 

SECTION IV.  TRANSFEREE'S/ASSIGNEE'S TECHNICAL QUALIFICATIONS

Set forth in an Exhibit a narrative account of the transferee's/assignee's technical qualifications, experience 
and expertise regarding cable television systems, including, but not limited to, summary information about 
appropriate management personnel that will be involved in the system's management and operations.  The 
transferee/assignee may, but need not, list a representative sample of cable systems currently or formerly 
owned or operated. 

Exhibit No. 

IV 

33



34



35



EXHIBIT LIST

Exhibit I.I.2:  Redacted Copy of Securities Purchase Agreement 

Exhibit I.II.1.(c):  Additional Contact Persons 

Exhibit I.II.2:  Planned Changes to Terms and Conditions 

Exhibit II.1:  Form of Business Organization of Transferee 

Exhibit II.2:  Ownership Information of Transferee 

Exhibit II.3:  Statement Regarding Qualification to Transact Business 

Exhibit II.7:  Statement Regarding Pledge of Stock 

Exhibit III:   Transferee’s Financial Qualifications 

Exhibit IV:   Transferee’s Technical Qualifications 

CONFIDENTIAL ATTACHMENT A Agreement 

CONFIDENTIAL ATTACHMENT B Financial Statements of Radiate Holdings 

ATTACHMENT C  Current and Post-Transaction Corporate 
Ownership Structures 

Please note that the contents of Attachments A and B 
(produced on pastel-colored paper) 

are confidential and proprietary materials and not for public disclosure. 

36



Ra
di

at
e 

O
F 

II 
Bl

oc
ke

r, 
LL

C 
(D

el
aw

ar
e)

Ra
di

at
e 

H
ol

di
ng

s,
 L

.P
.

(D
el

aw
ar

e)

Au
th

or
ity

 
H

ol
de

rs

TP
G

 V
II 

Ra
di

at
e 

BL
, 

LL
C

(D
el

aw
ar

e)

Ra
di

at
e 

G
F 

II 
Bl

oc
ke

r, 
LL

C 
(D

el
aw

ar
e)

TP
G

 W
ak

eb
oa

rd
 B

L,
 

LL
C

(D
el

aw
ar

e)
Ra

di
at

e 
H

ol
di

ng
s 

G
P,

 L
LC

(D
el

aw
ar

e)

P
re

-C
lo

se
 O

w
n

e
rs

h
ip

 o
f A

u
th

o
rit

y 
H

o
ld

e
rs

TP
G

-
Co

nt
ro

lle
d 

Fu
nd

s

Da
vi

d 
Bo

nd
er

m
an

Ja
m

es
 G

. C
ou

lte
r

Re
d:

  G
P 

or
 o

th
er

 c
on

tr
ol

lin
g 

pe
rs

on

Bl
ue

: N
on

-c
on

tr
ol

lin
g 

m
em

be
r/

lim
ite

d 
pa

rt
ne

r 
eq

ui
ty

 in
te

re
st

s

Co
nt

ro
lli

ng
 in

te
re

st
s 

ar
e 

10
0%

 u
nl

es
s 

ot
he

rw
is

e 
in

di
ca

te
d

Da
sh

 li
ne

s 
in

di
ca

te
 in

di
re

ct
 

in
te

re
st

.

1

TP
G

 A
dv

iso
rs

 V
II,

 In
c.

Se
e 

pa
ge

 6
 fo

r d
et

ai
le

d 
ch

ar
t o

f A
ut

ho
rit

y 
H

ol
de

rs

37



Ra
di

at
e 

O
F 

II 
Bl

oc
ke

r, 
LL

C 
(D

el
aw

ar
e)

Ra
di

at
e 

H
ol

di
ng

s,
 L

.P
.

(D
el
aw

ar
e)

Au
th

or
ity

 
H

ol
de

rs

TP
G

 V
II 

Ra
di

at
e 

BL
, L

LC
(D

el
aw

ar
e)

Ra
di

at
e 

G
F 

II 
Bl

oc
ke

r, 
LL

C 
(D

el
aw

ar
e)

TP
G

 W
ak

eb
oa

rd
 B

L,
 L

LC
(D

el
aw

ar
e)

St
on

ep
ea

k 
Ti

ge
r 

H
ol

di
ng

s 
I L

LC
(D

el
aw

ar
e)

St
on

ep
ea

k 
Ti

ge
r 

H
ol

di
ng

s 
II 

Su
b 

LL
C 

(D
el

aw
ar

e)

St
on

ep
ea

k 
Ti

ge
r 

H
ol

di
ng

s 
II 

LP
(D

el
aw

ar
e)

Ra
di

at
e 

H
ol

di
ng

s 
G

P,
 LL

C
(D

el
aw

ar
e)

P
o

st
-C

lo
se

 O
w

n
e

rs
h

ip
 o

f A
u

th
o

rit
y 

H
o

ld
e

rs
 (

In
d

ire
ct

 C
o

n
tr

o
l o

f A
u

th
o

rit
y 

H
o

ld
e

rs
)

Re
d:

  G
P 

or
 o

th
er

 c
on

tr
ol

lin
g 

pe
rs

on

Bl
ue

: N
on

-c
on

tr
ol

lin
g 

m
em

be
r/

lim
ite

d 
pa

rt
ne

r 
eq

ui
ty

 in
te

re
st

s

Co
nt

ro
lli

ng
 in

te
re

st
s 

ar
e 

10
0%

 u
nl

es
s 

ot
he

rw
is

e 
in

di
ca

te
d

Da
sh

 li
ne

s 
in

di
ca

te
 in

di
re

ct
 

in
te

re
st

.

2

St
on

ep
ea

k
As

so
ci

at
es

 IV
 L

LC
 

(D
el

aw
ar

e)

St
on

ep
ea

k
G

P 
In

ve
st

or
s 

IV
 L

LC
(D

el
aw

ar
e)

St
on

ep
ea

k
G

P 
In

ve
st

or
s 

M
an

ag
er

 L
LC

(D
el

aw
ar

e)

Se
e 

pa
ge

 6
 fo

r d
et

ai
le

d 
ch

ar
t o

f A
ut

ho
rit

y 
H

ol
de

rs

M
ic

ha
el

 D
or

re
ll

(U
.S

. a
nd

 A
us

.)

Se
e 

sli
de

s 
3-

4

St
on

ep
ea

k 
Ti

ge
r U

pp
er

 
H

ol
di

ng
s 

I L
P

(D
el

aw
ar

e)

St
on

ep
ea

k 
Ti

ge
r U

pp
er

 
H

ol
di

ng
s 

II 
LP

(D
el

aw
ar

e)

60
%

 e
qu

ity

40
%

 e
qu

ity

10
0

%
 e

q
ui

ty

10
0

%
 e

q
ui

ty

10
0

%
 e

q
ui

ty

10
0

%
 e

q
ui

ty

38



A
u

th
o

rit
y 

H
o

ld
e

rs

Ra
di

at
e 

To
pC

o,
 L

LC
(D

el
aw

ar
e)

Ra
di

at
e 

H
ol

dC
o,

 L
LC

(D
el
aw

ar
e)

Ya
nk

ee
 C

ab
le

 P
ar

en
t, 

LL
C

G
ra

nd
e 

Pa
re

nt
, L

LC
Ra

di
at

e 
Ac

qu
isi

tio
n,

 In
c.

W
av

eD
iv

isi
on

Ca
pi

ta
l I

II,
 

LL
C

W
av

e 
Bl

oc
ke

r, 
LL

C

W
av

e 
H

ol
dc

o,
 L

LC
Di

gi
ta

l W
es

t N
et

w
or

ks
, 

In
c.

1

G
ra

nd
e 

Co
m

m
un

ic
at

io
ns

 
N

et
w

or
ks

, L
LC

G
ra

nd
e 

Co
m

m
un

ic
at

io
ns

M
an

ag
em

en
t C

o.

Ya
nk

ee
 C

ab
le

 
Ac

qu
is

iti
on

, L
LC

RC
N

 T
el

ec
om

Se
rv

ic
es

, L
LC

RC
N

 D
ig

ita
l

Se
rv

ic
es

, L
LC

RC
N

 M
an

ag
em

en
t

Co
rp

or
at

io
n

RC
N

 IS
P,

 LL
C

RC
N

 C
ap

ita
l C

or
p.

RC
N

 T
el

ec
om

Se
rv

ic
es

 o
f P

hi
la

de
lp

hi
a,

 
LL

C

RC
N

 T
el

ec
om

Se
rv

ic
es

 o
f 

M
as

sa
ch

us
et

ts
, L

LC

St
ar

po
w

er
Co

m
m

un
ic

at
io

ns
, L

LC
RC

N
 T

el
ec

om
Se

rv
ic

es
 (L

eh
ig

h)
, L

LC

RC
N

 T
el

ec
om

Se
rv

ic
es

 o
f I

lli
no

is,
 L

LC
 

(IL
)

RC
N

 C
ab

le
 T

V 
of

 
Ch

ic
ag

o,
 In

c.

RC
N

 N
Y 

LL
C 

1

21
st

 C
en

tu
ry

 T
el

ec
om

Se
rv

ic
es

, I
nc

.

RC
N

 T
el

ec
om

Se
rv

ic
es

 o
f N

ew
 Y

or
k 

LP

Ra
di

at
e 

Fi
na

nc
e,

 In
c.

ET
S 

Te
le

ph
on

e 
Co

m
pa

ny
, I

nc
.

En
-T

ou
ch

 S
ys

te
m

s,
 In

c.

En
-T

ou
ch

 S
ys

te
m

s,
 In

c.
ET

S 
Ca

bl
ev

isi
on

, I
nc

.

N
or

ca
st

Co
m

m
un

ic
at

io
ns

 
Co

rp
or

at
io

n1

Bl
ue

 R
oo

st
er

 T
el

ec
om

, 
In

c.
1

W
av

e 
H

ol
dc

o 
Co

rp
.

O
H

 W
DH

 H
ol

dc
o,

 L
LC

W
av

eD
iv

isi
on

H
ol

di
ng

s,
 

LL
C

As
to

un
d 

Br
oa

db
an

d,
 

LL
C

O
th

er
 d

ire
ct

 a
nd

 in
di

re
ct

su
bs

id
ia

rie
s 

of
W

av
eD

iv
isi

on
H

ol
di

ng
s,

 L
LC

Al
l i

nt
er

es
ts

 a
re

 1
00

%

Au
th

or
ity

 H
ol

de
r

Ra
di

at
e 

H
ol

di
ng

s,
 L

.P
.

(D
el
aw

ar
e)

As
to

un
d 

Ph
on

e 
Se

rv
ic

es
, L

LC

6
1

P
e

n
d

in
g

 c
lo

se
 o

f 
tr

a
n

sa
ct

io
n.

 

39



Page 1    Council Bill No. 3142 
                 Resolution No. 2166 

COUNCIL BILL NO. 3142 
 

RESOLUTION NO. 2166 
 

A RESOLUTION APPROVING THE CHANGE OF INDIRECT CONTROL OF THE 
FRANCHISEE, WAVEDIVISION VII, LLC, UNDER THE CABLE TELEVISION FRANCHISE 
 

WHEREAS, WaveDivision VII, LLC (“Franchisee”) owns, operates and 
maintains a cable television system (the “System”) in the City of Woodburn 
pursuant to a cable television franchise (“Franchise”) granted by the governing 
body of the City of Woodburn (the “Franchise Authority”), and Franchisee is the 
current duly authorized holder of the Franchise; and 

 
WHEREAS, pursuant to an Agreement and Plan of Merger (“Agreement”), 

funds associated with Stonepeak Infrastructure Partners (“Acquiror”), a Delaware 
limited liability company, will purchase 100% of the membership interests of 
Radiate Holdings, L.P., a Delaware limited partnership, (which owns 100% of the 
indirect ownership interests in Franchisee), and, as a result, the indirect control of 
Franchisee will change (the “Change of Control”); 

 
WHEREAS, Franchisee and Acquiror have requested the consent of the 

Franchise Authority to the Change of Control in accordance with the 
requirements of the Franchise, have filed an FCC Form 394 with the Franchise 
Authority, and have provided the Franchise Authority with all information 
necessary to facilitate a decision by the Franchise Authority (the “Application”); 
and 

 
WHEREAS, the Franchise Authority has reviewed the Application, examined 

the legal, financial and technical qualifications of Acquiror, followed all required 
procedures in order to consider and act upon the Application, considered the 
comments of all interested parties, and finds Acquiror to be suitable to indirectly 
control Franchisee. NOW, THEREFORE,  
 
THE CITY OF WOODBURN RESOLVES AS FOLLOWS: 
 

Section 1. The Franchise Authority hereby accepts the Application and 
consents to the Change of Control, all in accordance with the terms of the 
Franchise and applicable law. 

 
Section 2. The Franchise Authority confirms that the Franchise is valid and 

outstanding and in full force and effect and there are no defaults under the 
Franchise. Subject to compliance with the terms of this Resolution, any action 
necessary with respect to the Change of Control has been duly and validly taken. 

40



Page 2    Council Bill No. 3142 
                 Resolution No. 2166 

Section 3. This Resolution shall be deemed effective as of the date of its 
passage. This Resolution shall have the force of a continuing agreement with 
Franchisee and Acquiror, and Franchise Authority shall not amend or otherwise 
alter this Resolution without the consent of Franchisee and Acquiror. 

 
 
Approved as to form:      
 City Attorney  Date 
 
 
 Approved:   
  Eric Swenson, Mayor 
 
Passed by the Council   

Submitted to the Mayor   

Approved by the Mayor   

Filed in the Office of the Recorder   
 

ATTEST:   
  Heather Pierson, City Recorder 
     
 

 

41



Agenda Item 
 

 

Agenda Item Review: City Administrator ___x___ City Attorney ___x___ Finance ___x__ 

      February 8, 2021 
 
TO: Honorable Mayor and City Council acting in its capacity as the 

Local Contract Review Board 
 
FROM: Eric Liljequist, Public Works Projects & Engineering Director 
 
SUBJECT: Award of Construction Contract for the Sixth Street Sanitary Sewer 

Replacement Project 
 
 
RECOMMENDATION: 
 
Award the construction contract for the Sixth Street Sanitary Sewer 
Replacement Project to the lowest responsible and responsive bidder, Icon 
Construction & Development LLC, in the amount of $98,830.00.   
 
BACKGROUND: 
 
This project is included in the approved FY 20/21 budget and includes the 
replacement of the existing sanitary sewer line in Sixth Street between Harrison 
Street and Fir Street. 
 
Bids were publicly opened January 21, 2021.  Nineteen (19) responsible and 
responsive bids were received as follows: 
 
Icon Construction & Development            $98,830.00  
Turney Excavation          $103,360.00 
Kerr Construction, Inc.          $103,456.94  
Emery & Sons Construction Group, LLC          $108,610.00 
D&I Excavating, Inc.          $113,380.00 
Trench Line Construction, Inc.          $118,450.00  
M.L. Houck           $119,431.00 
Black Rock Underground, LLC          $120,773.00 
Moore Excavation          $121,225.00 
Odyssey Construction          $121,249.00 
CG Contractors          $122,950.00 
Northcore USA          $128,808.43 
C&M Construction          $137,720.00 
Ruby Construction          $142,560.00 
Gelco Construction           $144,300.00 

42



Honorable Mayor and City Council 
February 8, 2021 
Page 2 
 
 
Jesse Rodriguez Construction, LLC           $151,410.00 
CR Woods            $188,212.80 
Pacific Excavation           $192,000.00 
Pacific Underground Co.           $217,800.00 
 
 
The Engineer's Estimate for the project is:                    $166,781.25 
 
The recommended award is approximately 41% lower than the Engineer’s 
Estimate 
 
DISCUSSION: 
 
The existing sanitary sewer line within Sixth Street between Harrison Street and 
Church Street needs to be replaced to mitigate ongoing sewer backup issues 
and frequent maintenance call-outs.  The location of the existing sewer pipe is 
not ideal due to the proximity of the adjacent private property lines and existing 
water main.  The newly installed sanitary sewer line will comply with current 
public works design standards and will resolve all existing sewer issues. 
 
The existing sanitary sewer line within Sixth Street between High Street and Fir 
Street needs to be replaced due to severe root intrusion that has made this 
section of sewer pipe a “hot spot” for City wastewater maintenance staff.  The 
location of the existing sanitary sewer line is near private property lines, making 
maintenance activities more cumbersome. The new sanitary sewer line will be 
installed in the middle of Sixth Street, which complies with current design 
standards and allows for easier access for future maintenance needs. The 
replacement of these sections of sanitary sewer lines will mitigate frequent 
maintenance activities in these areas, resulting in lower sewer maintenance 
costs for the City.  
 
The contract award is in conformance with public contracting laws of the State 
of Oregon as outlined in ORS Chapter 279C and the laws, regulations of the City 
of Woodburn, therefore, staff is recommending the contract be awarded. 
 
FINANCIAL IMPACT: 
 
The subject project is identified in the adopted fiscal year 2020/21 Budget and 
funded by the Sewer Fund. 
 

43



Agenda Item 
 

 

Agenda Item Review: City Administrator __x____ City Attorney ___x___ Finance ___x__ 

   February 8, 2021 
 
TO: Honorable Mayor and City Council through City Administrator 
 
FROM: Jim Row, Assistant City Administrator 
 Jesse Cuomo, Recreation and Parks Manager 
 
SUBJECT: Smith Creek Parks Naming Process 
          
 
RECOMMENDATION: 
 
Approve a process for naming the public parks that have already or will soon be 
coming into City ownership through the completion of the Smith Creek Residential 
Development.   

BACKGROUND: 
 
The Smith Creek Residential Development was approved by the City Council on 
November 13, 2018.  A significant portion of the development was approved 
through the Planned Unit Development (PUD) section of the Woodburn 
Development Ordinance (WDO), in which the developer provided a large 
amount of open space in exchange for reduced lot sizes and increased housing 
density.  While many of the open space areas will remain privately owned and 
maintained by future home owners associations, the City agreed to accept a 
few of the more significant areas as City owned public parks. 
 
Phase 1A of the Smith Creek Development is currently well under construction, 
with the public infrastructure essentially complete.  In terms of Park facilities, 
Phase 1A includes a 4,670 sq. ft. plaza with restroom building, picnic shelter and 
other amenities, 3,100 linear feet of greenway trail, and undeveloped open 
space along Smith Creek.  These Phase 1A park facilities have been completed 
and dedicated to the City.   
 
Additional areas of parkland and sections of the greenway trail will be 
completed during future phases of the development.  Staff recommends 
initiating the process to name both the Smith Creek park facilities that are 
currently in City ownership, as well as those that have yet to be developed and 
transferred to the City.  
 

44



Honorable Mayor and City Council 
February 8, 2021 
Page 2 
 
 
In preparing the proposed park naming process, staff acknowledged the 
significance of assigning permanent names to public facilities.  These names not 
only create identifying markers for the City and its community members, but are 
also essential in embodying the culture and heritage of the location in which 
they are placed.  
 
The proposed park naming process was crafted to consider the historical and 
geographical relevance of the subject locations, noteworthy contributions by 
community members, and a process that creates community involvement and 
inclusion. 
 
The Smith Creek Residential Development is being constructed on 
approximately 150 acres of land that was formerly owned by the late Hazel M. 
Smith, a prominent Woodburn figure.   It is worth noting that Ms. Smith’s family 
has requested that some of the parklands be named in her honor.  
 
PARK NAMING PROCESS: 
 
Staff proposes that the City Council create and appoint members to the Ad Hoc 
Park Naming Committee to solicit suggested park names from the community, 
review potential park names, and forward recommendations to the Council for 
final approval.  It is suggested that the committee’s membership should include: 

 Between one (1) and two (2) City Councilors, including the Mayor 
 Between one (1) and three (3) members of the Recreation and Park 

Board 
 Between two (2) and four (4) members of the general public 
 The City Administrator or designee(s) 

 
If the City Council approves the park naming process, a list of proposed 
committee members will be presented for the City Council’s consideration at a 
future meeting.  

PARK NAMING CRITERIA: 
 
In reviewing potential park names and formulating their recommendations to 
the City Council, the Ad Hoc Park Naming Committee will consider the following 
guiding principles: 
 

45



Honorable Mayor and City Council 
February 8, 2021 
Page 3 
 
 

• Names should serve the greater interest of the community, recognize 
events, people, organizations or places with cultural or social significance, 
and create an enduring legacy 
 

• Names should engender a strong positive image and have symbolic 
value that enhances the character and identity of the park and/or 
facility. 
 

• Names should reflect the wholesome nature of a park or facility and in 
keeping with the City’s values.  

 
• If relevant, consideration should be given to a property’s association with 

historic events, people, or other items of cultural/ social significance. 
 

• Names will be considered under a lens of diversity, equity and inclusion to 
align with the values of the City. 

 
• Parks may be named in honor of a deceased person when the deceased 

person made a significant contribution to the community and/or who was 
instrumental in acquiring or developing the park. The name of a 
deceased person for a park should not be considered until 12 months 
after their death.  
 

• A park, or feature within a park may be named in recognition of a living 
individual. It is recognized that having a park in one’s name is a high 
honor.  Therefore, in order to have a park named after a named after a 
living individual, the individual must have made a significant and 
sustained contribution to the community and/or the City over the course 
of many years. 

 
• Evidence should exist to substantiate the qualifications for naming. 

 
FINANCIAL IMPACTS: 
 
None.  
 
 
  

46


	January 25 2021
	2021 OLCC Annual Staff Report
	OLCC Annual report 2021
	Tequila's Bistro Bar
	Building Activity Jan. 2021
	Council Agenda Item - Wave Franchise Change in Control (02.03.21)
	Revised Woodburn, OR WAVE Cable Consent Cover Letter
	Wave FCC 394 Form_02.03.21
	Wave Pre- & Post-Closing Org Charts Pgs. 1-2_02.03.21
	Wave Pre- & Post-Closing Org Charts Pg 6_02.03.21
	Council Resolution - Wave Franchisee Indirect Change in Control_02.03.21
	AGENDA ITEM - Sixth Street Sanitary Sewer Replacement Contract Award
	Park Naming Staff Report Feb 8



